
 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel 
 
Friday 9 April 2021 
10:00 

Meeting to be conducted using Microsoft Teams - Microsoft Teams 
 
NB. Attendance by the public and press is via webcast only which can be viewed here - 
https://staffordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

John Tradewell 
Director of Corporate Services 

1 April 2021 
 

 
A G E N D A 

PART ONE 
 

1.  Apologies  
   
2.  Declaration of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16.2  
   
3.  Minutes of meeting held on 19 March 2021 (Pages 1 - 4) 
   
4.  Wildlife and Countryside act 1981 Section 53 - Application for the 

addition of an alleged Public Footpath at Eccleshall Road to the 
Footbridge over the River Sow, Creswell 

(Pages 5 - 60) 

   
 Report of the Director of Corporate Services.  
   
5.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for 

upgrading of Public Footpath No 8 Caverswall to Bridleway status 
(Pages 61 - 280) 

   
 Report of the Director of Corporate Services.  
   
6.  Exclusion of the public  
   
 The Chairman to move:- 

 
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 indicated below”. 
_________________________________________________________ 
 
Part Two 
(All reports in this section are exempt) 
 
 

 

   
7.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 Modification Order 

Applications - Update 
 

  
 
 

County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI (01785) 276147 

Please ask for Zach Simister 
Email: zachary.simister@staffordshire.gov.uk 

 

 



   
 Verbal update of the Director of Corporate Services. 

 
(Exemption paragraph 2, 6a and 6b) 

 

   
 
 

Membership 
 

Alan Dudson 
David Smith 
 

Paul Snape 
Mark Winnington (Chairman) 
 

 
Note for Members of the Press and Public 
 
Filming of Meetings 
 
The Open (public) section of this meeting may be filmed for live or later broadcasting or 
other use, and, if you are at the meeting, you may be filmed, and are deemed to have 
agreed to being filmed and to the use of the recording for broadcast and/or other 
purposes. 
 
Recording by Press and Public 
 
Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is permitted 
from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of the chairman, disrupt 
the meeting.  
 
 
 
 



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of the Countryside and Rights of Way Panel Meeting held on 19 March 
2021 

 
Present: Mark Winnington (Chairman) 

 

Attendance 
 

Alan Dudson 
David Smith 
 

Paul Snape 
 

 
 
 
PART ONE 
 
45. Declaration of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16.2 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest on this occasion. 
 
46. Minutes of meeting held on 12 February 2021 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2021 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chairman. 
 
47. Wildlife and Countryside act 1981 Section 53 - Application for Upgrading of 
Public Footpaths 67 and 68 Madeley and Footpath 15 Keele to Bridleways 
 
The Panel considered a report of the Director of Corporate Services regarding an 
application by Mr M Reay for a modification order under Section 53 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 for the Upgrading of Public Footpaths 67 and 68 Madeley and 
Footpath 15 Keele to Bridleway status. 
 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various legal 
documentary and historical evidence relevant to the application. The Director also made 
reference to case law which dealt with the weight to be given to the evidence and gave 
guidance on the legal tests which they should apply. In applying these tests, Members 
were made aware that they should examine the evidence in its totality. During their 
consideration of the application, Members had regard to the Appendices attached to the 
report including:- (i) a plan of the claimed route; (ii) Deposited Railway Plan 1858; (iii) 
Highways Diversion Order; (iv) Highways Stopping Up Order; (v) Finance Act 1910; (vi) 
Parish Survey and (vii) County Map and details 1830s-1880s. 
 
The Panel decided that the available evidence was not sufficient to conclude that Public 
Footpaths 67 & 68 in Madeley and Footpath 15 in Keele should be added as a highway 
of a different description, namely to a Bridleway to the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way. 
 
RESOLVED – That (a) the evidence submitted by the applicant and that discovered by 
the County Council is not sufficient to show, on a balance of probabilities, that Public 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

- 2 - 
 

Footpaths 67 & 68 in Madeley and Footpath 15 in Keele should be added as a highway 
of a different description, namely a Bridleway to the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way for the District of Newcastle Rural. 
 
(b) an Order should not be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the plan 
attached at Appendix B and marked A-B, C-D, E-F to the Definitive Map and Statement 
of Public Rights of Way for the District of Newcastle, Newcastle Rural. 
 
48. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for Upgrading of 
Public Footpath 73 Audley Rural Parish to a Public Bridleway and the addition of a 
Public Bridleway, Newcastle 
 
The Panel considered a report of the Director of Corporate Services regarding an 
application by Mrs P J Whalley for a modification order under Section 53 of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 for the upgrade of Public Footpath 73 Audley Rural Parish to 
Bridleway Status and the Addition of a Public Bridleway, Newcastle. 
 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various legal 
documentary and historical evidence relevant to the application. The Director also made 
reference to case law which dealt with the weight to be given to the evidence and gave 
guidance on the legal tests which they should apply. In applying these tests, Members 
were made aware that they should examine the evidence in its totality. During their 
consideration of the application, Members had regard to the Appendices attached to the 
report including: - i) Plan of claimed route; (ii) User evidence; (iii) Landowner reply from 
British Coal and Mr Pepper; (iv) Clarification of Route; (v) Evidence Letters; (vi) 
Statutory consultee reply – Audley Rural Parish Council and Newcastle under Lyme 
Borough Council. 
 
The Panel decided that the available evidence was sufficient to conclude that a Public 
Bridleway, which was not currently shown on the Definitive Map and Statement, 
subsisted along the claimed route. 
 
RESOLVED – That (a) the evidence submitted by the applicant, in the application at 
Appendix A is sufficient to show that a Public Bridleway subsists along the route marked 
A to B along PF73 Audley Rural Parish and that a Public Bridleway may be reasonably 
alleged to subsist along the route marked C to D, Newcastle on the same plan attached 
at Appendix B to this report and should therefore be added to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way as such. 
 
(b) an Order should be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the 
plan attached at Appendix B and marked A to B and C to D to the Definitive 
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the Borough of Newcastle under-Lyme. 
 
49. Exclusion of the public 
 
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 
indicated below. 
 

Page 2



 

- 3 - 
 

50. Exempt minutes of meeting held on 12 February 2021 
 
RESOLVED – That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2021 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 3





 Page 1 

 

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel -  

 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

Application for the addition of an alleged Public Footpath at Eccleshall Road to the 

Footbridge over the River Sow, Creswell.   

Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

Recommendation 

1. That the evidence submitted by the applicant and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to show that the alleged public footpath at Eccleshall Road to 
the Footbridge over the River Sow, Creswell subsists along the route shown 
marked A to B on the plan attached at Appendix B and should be added to the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such.   

2. That an Order made be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the plan 
attached at Appendix B and marked A to B to the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way for the District of Stafford Borough Council as a Public 
Footpath.   

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application attached at Appendix A from Mr Martin Reay for an 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement for the District of Creswell. The 
effect of such an Order, should the application be successful, would: 

(i) add an alleged Public Footpath between Eccleshall Road to the Footbridge 
over the River Sow, Creswell to the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way 
under the provisions of Section 53 (3) (c) (i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981.    

(ii) The lines of the alleged Public Footpath which are the subject of the 
application are shown highlighted and marked A – B on the plan attached as 
Appendix B. 

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

 

Local Members’ Interest 

Jeremy Pert  Stafford- Eccleshall 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 Page 2 

 

Evidence submitted by the applicant  

1. The applicant has submitted in support of his claim evidence from the 1910 Finance 
Act Plans and Field Book dated 9th January 1911, Ordnance Survey Maps for 1888, 
1902 and 1925 and an extract from a book about the River Sow.  

2. The 1910 Finance Act material refers to two plots which cover the area of land 
which the claimed route runs. These are plot numbers 63 and 67. Copies are 
attached at Appendix C.  

3. In the Field Book there is a deduction allowed for a Footpath and a right of way. 
The only reference made in relation to a Footpath in the Field Book is, “Public 
Footpaths through enclosures no 63 and 67 Creswell”. 

4. On the section of the map that covers plots 63 and 67 there is a route shown as 
dotted lines which bear the depiction FP and appears to follow the same line as 
the alleged route.   

5. The applicant sent a letter dated 5th January 2000, enclosing evidence he had 
taken from a modern book about the River Sow. The applicant did not provide the 
name of the book and there is nothing on the page provided to identify the book it 
has come from. Copy attached at Appendix D.  

6. The applicant has identified one paragraph of note in relation to this application 
and a second paragraph in relation to a separate application. The paragraph of 
note in relation to this claim is on page 32 and is the third paragraph down. The 
applicant has noted one sentence of particular relevance and is as follows: “For 
generations of Stafford children a public footpath has lead past the chapel ruins to 
Shaky Bridges, a cherished play area beside (and in) the Sow. The path continues 
on after crossing the river and heads towards the village of Seighford”. The 
applicant alleges that this mentions the path he has claimed as it mentions a path 
leading past the chapel ruins. 

7. The 1888 Ordnance Survey May shows a route shown as dotted lines running 
from Eccleshall Road to a chapel, which has been noted on the map. However, it 
appears that the route terminates at this point. Copy attached at Appendix E.  

8. On the 1902 Ordnance Survey Map it shows a similar route to the 1888 OS map 
with a route shown as dotted lines running from Eccleshall Road but instead of 
terminating at the chapel, continues passed the chapel across the land connecting 
to a footbridge to the River Sow. The dotted line bears the depiction FP and 
appears to follow the same line as the alleged route. Copy attached at Appendix 
F.  

9. The 1925 Ordnance Survey Map shows no evidence of any route running from 
Eccleshall Road, to the footbridge connecting to the River Sow in the area of the 
alleged route. Copy attached at Appendix G.   

 

Evidence submitted by the Landowners 

10. When the application was submitted, the applicant revealed three landowners for 
the whole of the land over which the application route runs. 

11. Keepers Lodge joint owners Mr Henry Hidderley and Amy Hidderley, along with 
the owner of Creswell Farm, Mr John Henry Hidderley jointly completed an owner 
evidence form on 15th December 1998, a copy of which is attached at Appendix H. 
They have stated that they do not consider the route to be public. They have had 
an interest in the land for 75 years and the land has been with the family since 
1900. They have confirmed that they have never felt it necessary to erect any “No 
private/trespassers” signs, as no one has ever tried to use the alleged path. They 

Page 6



 Page 3 

 

do confirm that permission is given to use the alleged route for a chapel service 
once a year. They have further stated that there are high locked wrought iron 
gates at the road entrance, (the assumption is Eccleshall Road), which are 100 
years old but are rarely used for the farm. They have advised that on the 1923 
Ordnance Survey Map a new parallel path appears 200 yards north off the 
Eccleshall Road to the same bridge over the River Sow. They assume this path 
replaced the alleged route. They have not provided a copy of the 1923 Ordnance 
Survey Map. They have further advised that occasionally people wander off the 
existing right of way to look at the chapel, but they are not particularly walking on 
the claimed route and they are always directed back to the right of way. To 
conclude they have stated that no one uses the alleged route, so they had no 
reason to presume a dedication by way of usage. 

12. A further owner evidence form was jointly completed on the 19th December 1998 
by Mr Henry Hidderley and Mrs Amy Hidderley of Keepers Lodge, Mr John Henry 
Hidderley of Creswell Farm and Mr Mark William Hidderley of New Lodge, a copy 
of which is attached at Appendix I.  They reiterate what was stated in the evidence 
form completed on the 15th December 1998 and state that no one has tried to use 
the alleged route and if anyone had they would have been seen as there is a 
Lodge either side. 

13. A further owner evidence form was completed on the 30th December 1998 by Mr 
Mark William Hidderley of New Lodge, a copy of which is attached at Appendix J. 
Mr Mark Hidderley disputes a public right of way exists on the alleged route. He 
confirms that he has had an interest in the land for 14 years and that no members 
of the public have ever asked to use the alleged route. 

 

Comments received from statutory consultees 

14. Creswell Parish Council responded on 10th December 1998 with a letter advising 
that they were of the understanding that the landowner would be making 
representations and that the matter was in hand. They had no further comments 
to make. They have not submitted any evidence which supports or refutes the 
application. 

 

Comments on Evidence   

15. The 1910 Finance Act was concerned with mapping lands throughout the UK for 
purposes of taxation. A landowner could claim tax relief for public rights of way 
and these deductions would be shown in the Field Book. Where a deduction was 
made this would appear under public rights of user and in the entry under 
restrictions. 

16. In this case under the “public rights of user” section it confirms that a deduction 
was made of £10.00. In the “entry under restrictions” it states that a £10.00 
deduction was made for a footpath. Also, in the Field Book, under the section 
“Charges, Easements and Restrictions affecting market value of Fee Simple” it 
refers to “Public footpaths through enclosures no 63 & 67 Creswell”. There is no 
mention of any other routes or public rights of way in the Field Book. 

17. The Plan that accompanies the Field Book shows a route showing two dotted lines 
going through both plots 67 and 63, corresponding with the entries in the Field 
Book. The two dotted lines also bear the depiction FP, again corresponding with 
what is in the Field Book. The dotted lines follow a similar route to the alleged 
route being claimed. The route goes from Eccleshall Road, passed a chapel, 
across the land to a footbridge crossing the River Sow.  

Page 7



 Page 4 

 

18. Taking into consideration what is recorded in the Field Book and on the Plan this 
gives weight that this route physically existed and was classed as a public right of 
way at that time. Claims for deductions were investigated by the valuers to ensure 
that these were valid. The legislation set out that it was an offence to make a false 
claim under the Act and was punishable by a fine and up to six months 
imprisonment. Given this consideration it would have been most unlikely that the 
landowner would have made a claim unless it was well founded.   

19. The purpose of Ordnance Survey Maps is to show physical features on, and the 
contours of the ground. They do not distinguish between public and private rights 
of way.  

20. The 1902 Ordnance Survey Map reflects what was recorded on the Plan that was 
part of the 1910 Finance Act material, showing a route, depicted by two dotted 
lines, from Eccleshall Road, running parallel to a chapel and connecting to a 
footbridge crossing the River Sow. Next to this route is the annotation FP, which is 
evidence of a physical existence of a way on the ground, but it does not indicate 
whether the way was public or private. However, considering what is recorded in 
the Finance Act this is suggestive that the route was likely to be a public footpath 
and right of way.  

21. The 1888 Ordnance Survey Map depicts a route running from Eccleshall Road up 
to a chapel, but this is where the route terminates and there is no evidence of a 
route connecting to the River Sow. There is no annotation on the route to identify 
the type of route. This supports that there was a physical route in existence up to 
the chapel at this time but there is no evidence of a physical route passed this 
point or whether the route was public or private.  

22. By 1925, the Ordnance Survey Map does not show the existence of a physical 
route along the alleged right of way. The route that is recorded on the 1902 
Ordnance Survey Map and in the 1910 Finance Act material is not depicted on the 
1925 Map. This would imply that the route was no longer in existence or in use by 
this point. However, there is no clear evidence as to why the route is not depicted 
on the 1925 map.  

23. In relation to the extract from the book regarding the River Sow this would seem to 
indicate that there was a public footpath in the area of the alleged right of way that 
specifically passed a chapel and connected to the River Sow. However, it is not 
conclusive from the description that this relates to the alleged route or that the 
footpath mentioned was a public right of way. There is no map or visual aid to 
confirm that the footpath mentioned relates to the alleged route. The evidence 
from the book alone cannot confirm or refute whether the alleged route is a public 
right of way.  

 

Comments of Draft Report 

24.      Following circulation of the report comments were received from the legal       
representatives of the landowners, Lanyon Bowdler Solicitors. They state that 
Creswell Farm has been in the ownership of the Hidderley family since it was 
purchased by John Henry Hidderley in 1927. They advise that none of the family can 
remember the alleged footpath being used by members of the public.  

25.     They advise that the alleged footpath passes between two lodges, known as 
Keepers Lodge and New Lodge and through Creswell Farm. The part of the farm 
through which the route passes is used for grazing cattle.  

Page 8



 Page 5 

 

26.    From the sales particulars it would appear that New Lodge was built in 1914 and 
from the plans there has always been a gate between the two lodges and a fence 
around them, which obscures the alleged footpath. 

27.   The premise of the landowner’s objection is in their opinion the alleged footpath 
must have been either diverted or extinguished before 1923. A copy of their response 
and your officer’s reply is attached at Appendix K.  

28.   In response to the above correspondence the County Council investigated Parish 
Survey Cards for the area of Creswell and neither the parish cards nor the plans have 
any reference to a path along the same line as the alleged route. No legal or other 
document or map evidences the alleged route. It appears that the alleged route 
appears on ordnance survey maps for approximately 20 years and then the route 
disappears. 

29. Between the years 1902 and 1911 there is evidence from the Finance Act material 
that the alleged route exists. By 1923, however there is no evidence that the alleged 
path is still in use or existence, which may coincide with the construction of New 
Lodge in 1914. However, there is no clear evidence that the route has ever been 
legally extinguished or diverted, it may be that the route fell into disuse and therefore 
was no longer deemed a significant enough route to be included on maps. In 
conclusion there is no additional evidence which would alter the conclusions of the 
report.              

 

Burden and Standard of Proof  

30. In this instance the applicable section of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 is 
Section 53 (3) (c) (i). This section relates to the discovery of evidence of two 
separate events: 

(a) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the maps subsists: or 

(b) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the map is reasonably alleged 

to subsist. 

31. Thus, there are two separate tests, one of which must be satisfied before a 
Modification Order can be made. To answer either question must involve an 
evaluation of the evidence and a judgement on that evidence.  

32. For the first test to be satisfied it will be necessary to show that on a balance of 
probabilities the right of way does subsist.  

33. For the second test to be satisfied the question is whether a reasonable person 
could reasonably allege a right of way subsists, having considered all the relevant 
evidence available to the council. The evidence necessary to establish a right of 
way which is “reasonably alleged to subsist” over land must by definition be less 
than that which is necessary to establish the right of way “does subsist”. 

34. If the conclusion is that either test is satisfied, then the Definitive Map and 
Statement should be modified.    

 

Summary  

35. In relation to the Finance Act evidence, where the plans do show public highways, 
this provides good evidence of their public status. As the survey was carried out 
under statute by a public body and misrepresentation carried severe criminal 
penalties, evidence of a public right of way is given considerable weight even 
though the recording of rights of way was not the primary purpose of the survey. 

Page 9



 Page 6 

 

36. The Field Book and Plan support that there was a route that existed through plots 
63 & 67, which was recorded as a footpath and a deduction was made for this as 
a “public rights of user”. This is supportive evidence that a footpath existed at this 
time, which was a public right of way. 

37. The Ordnance Survey Maps provide conflicting evidence. Out of the three maps 
provided only the 1902 map provides evidence that a route was recorded all the 
way from Eccleshall Road to a footbridge to the River Sow and this was depicted 
as a footpath. The 1888 map is only supportive of a route running along part of the 
alleged way, with no indication as to what the route was. By 1925 the route no 
longer appears on the map and no evidence has been found as to why the route 
appears to have disappeared from the map.  

38. The evidential value of Ordnance Survey Maps has been considered by the courts 
to be limited solely to being evidence of whether there was a visible feature on the 
ground at the time of the survey. 

39. It appears that between 1888 and 1902 the route was extended and reviewed in 
conjunction with the evidence from the Finance Act it can be surmised that there 
was a public right of way, at the very least during the period 1902- 1911. 

40. The extract from the book about the River Sow does not provide any weight as to 
whether the alleged route exists but merely suggests that there was a route in this 
location that was perhaps at some time used as a footpath. 

 

Conclusion  

41. The application is to be considered under s53 (3) (c) (i) as mentioned above, and 
so the question of whether the application should succeed needs to be evaluated 
against both tests in that section. 

42. When the totality of the evidence is considered it is finely balanced as to whether 
it would satisfy the first part of the test set out in s53 (3) (c) (i) above, that is 
whether on the balance of probabilities a public footpath subsists.  

43. The evidence provided by the Finance Act Field Book and the Ordnance Survey 
Map of 1902 is good evidence. Although there is conflicting evidence from the 
1925 Ordnance Survey Map which does not record the alleged route, it is unlikely 
that the route would have been included in the Finance Act material due to the 
strict penalties in place for misrepresentation, if it did not actually in fact exist as a 
public right of way. Therefore, this could be taken to mean that the application has 
passed the test on the balance of probabilities. 

44. When the lesser test is considered, that of reasonable allegation, this is satisfied. 
In the case of Bagshaw, the Judge said in relation to s53 (3) (c) (i): “the wording of 
the section indicates, as I consider, that the evidence necessary to establish that a 
right of way is reasonably alleged to subsist must be less than that which is 
necessary to establish that a right does subsist”. 

45. Taking everything into consideration it is apparent that the evidence shows that a 
public right of way, with the status of a footpath, which is not shown on the map 
and statement is reasonably alleged to subsist. 

 

Recommended Option 

46. To make an order adding the public footpath, on the lines shown on the map 
attached at appendix B to the Definitive Map and Statement. 

 

Page 10



 Page 7 

 

Other options Available 

47. To reject the application and refuse to make an Order to add the claimed way to 
the Definitive Map and Statement. 

 

Legal Implications 

48. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

 

Resource and Financial Implications  

49. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

50. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High 
Court for Judicial Review.  

 

Risk Implications  

51. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs under Section 14 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. The Secretary of State would appoint an Inspector to 
consider the matter afresh, including any representations or previously 
unconsidered evidence. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision 
and confirm the Order, however there is always a risk that an Inspector may 
decide that the County Council should not have made the Order and decide not to 
confirm it. 

52. If the Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order it 
may still be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court. 

53. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicant may appeal that 
decision to the Secretary of State who will follow a similar process to that outlined 
above. After consideration by an Inspector the County Council could be directed to 
make an Order. 

54. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and applies 
the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being successful, or 
being made, are lessened. There are no additional risk implications.  

 

Equal Opportunity Implications  

55. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services 

Report Author: Hannah Titchener   

Ext. No: 854 190  

Page 11



 Page 8 

 

Background File: LH627G  

Page 12



 Page 9 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Copy of application and associated 
submitted letters and documents 

Appendix B Plan of claimed route  

Appendix C The 1910 Finance Act materials, including 

Field Book and Plan 

Appendix D Extract from a book about the River Sow 

Appendix E 1888 Ordnance Survey Map 

Appendix F 1902 Ordnance Survey Map 

Appendix G 1925 Ordnance Survey Map 

Appendix H Owner evidence questionnaire- Mr Henry 

Hidderley, Mrs Amy Hidderley and Mr John 

Hidderley dated 15th December 1998. 

Appendix I Owner evidence questionnaire from Mr 

Mark Hidderley, My Henry Hidderley, Mrs 

Amy Hidderley and Mr John Hidderley 

dated 19th December 1998.  

Appendix J Owner evidence questionnaire from Mr 

Mark Hidderley dated 30th December 1998 

Appendix K Correspondence from Lanyon Bowdler 

Solicitors in response to the draft report and 

officer’s response.  

 

Page 13





Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



 

Page 59





  

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel   

 

Wildlife and Countryside act 1981  

Application for Upgrading of Public Footpath No 8 Caverswall to Bridleway 
Status. 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

Recommendation  

1. That the evidence submitted with the application at Appendix A is sufficient to 
show that a Public Bridleway subsists along the route marked A to B on the 
plan attached at Appendix B to this report and should therefore be added to 
the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such. 

2. That an Order should be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the 
plan attached at Appendix B and marked A to B to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of Staffordshire Moorlands, 
Caverswall.  

 

               PART A   

Why is it coming here – What decision is required?  

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application attached at Appendix A made on the 27th March 
2001 by Mrs C A Howell, Clerk to Caverswall Parish Council for an order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement for the area by upgrading Public 
Footpath 8 Caverswall to a public bridleway under the provisions of Section 53(3) 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The line of the alleged public bridleway 
as claimed by the applicant is shown on the plan at Appendix B and marked A to 
B.  

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

 

Cllr Ross Ward 
District of Staffordshire 
Moorlands  

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



Evidence Submitted by the Applicant  

4. In support of the application the applicant Mrs C A Howell on behalf of 
Caverswall Parish Council has submitted 24 user evidence forms, and a copy of 
“The Spirit of the Place” by M J W Roberts (pages 10 & 11).  The evidence forms 
are attached to this report at Appendix C.  

5. A summary of the salient points from the user evidence forms has been 
compiled in a table. This is attached at Appendix D.  

 

Evidence Submitted by the Landowner/s 

6. Mr C Dale of Highfield Stud Farm, Abbey Green Road, Leek ST13 8SA returned 
the Right of Way Evidence Form indicating that he believed the route was a 
“footpath” and “bridleway”, that he had not erected any signage on the route, 
although the previous owner a Mr Myatt had. He also stated that “3 years ago a 
bar was put across at (the) junction with Leek Road to prevent road vehicles 
gaining access”. This owner evidence form can be seen at Appendix E.  

Comments Received From Statutory Consultees 

7. M Rowley of the Byways and Bridleways Trust stated that the extract supplied as 
evidence by the applicant and entitled “The Spirit of the Place” was “neither 
accurate nor relevant” adding that it is well established that the A34/A50 is the 
route from Chesterton (Holditch) via Trent Vale to Rocester. This letter can be 
found at Appendix F.  

8. M Rowley also stated that vehicular rights exist over the route of PF8 and this 
was recognised by J W Vernon, Barrister, the Inspector who held the Cheadle 
Public Enquiry in 1978 and who submitted the report to the Secretary of State on 
21/07/78. 

9. M Rowley attached a copy of the 1978 Report which gave a detailed description 
of PF8. The route was referred to as RP8 at this time, the abbreviated acronym 
for RUPP – a Road Used as A Public Path. This can be found at Appendix G. 

10. M Rowley also attached a copy of decision letter from the Department of the 
Environment and Transport dated 15/02/80. This can be found at Appendix H.  

11. For clarity the 1980 report referred to in point 10 above stated (in relation to 
“RP8) that the reclassification of this road used as a public path (hereinafter 
referred to as RUPP) should remain as a footpath in the Draft Revised Map and 
Statement”.  

12. M Rowley confirmed that he had also inspected the 1910 Record Plans relating 
to PF8 at Stafford County Record Office in 1977 and that he had “ridden RP8 
Caverswall by motorcycle for a period in excess of 20 years” Although the 1910 
Record Plans likely referred to the Finance Act no further exposition of this was 
given.  

13. M Rowley highlighted that his use of the path with a motor vehicle was 
irrespective of the routes’ reclassification as Footpath status in 1978 as 
reclassification, according to “leading counsel” did not extinguish prior vehicular 
rights.  

Page 62



14. The Staffordshire Moorlands Bridleways Preservation Group commented in 2001 
that an obstruction and signs had been erected on the route. They stated the 
obstruction was “a barrier with a small stile” and signage stating, “No Horses or 
Vehicles”. They also stated that they would submit a request for a modification 
order to remove the footpath from the definitive map as it was, they believed “a 
pre-1835 vehicular road”. Photographs submitted with their letter show the barrier 
and signage. While an additional copy of Cary’s Map of Staffordshire was also 
attached showing the route with perceived “road” status. They stated that “the 
erection of a stile to be outside the requirements of Section 147 of the Highways 
Act 1980” and “a misfeasance”. This can be found at Appendix I.  

15. The Staffordshire Moorlands Bridleways Preservation Group also consulted 
solicitors DLA & Partners concerning the erection of the obstruction on the route. 
DLA commented that the Group did not accept the route was “only a footpath”. 
They went on to state that the obstruction or stile covered over half the width of 
the route leaving only a small squeeze stile. This they stated was an “obstruction 
of a highway” and quoted that “as early as 1630 the courts held that if a new gate 
be erected across a public highway it is a common nuisance and any of the Kings 
subjects passing that way may cut it down and destroy it”. It was also confirmed 
that person’s unknown had since removed the stile. This can be found at 
Appendix J.  

16. DLA Solicitors also commented on the erection of the signage by the County 
Council stating, “No horses or vehicles”. They reiterated that the route was 
originally shown on the Definitive Map as a road used as a public path (RUPP) 
and cited the case “R v Secretary of State for the Environment ex parte Hood” 
that held “designation on the Definitive Map as a RUPP provided conclusive 
evidence of the existence of a public right of way on horseback at least.” They felt 
the erection of signage stating “No Horses” was tactless and that this was 
contrary to section 57 of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949.  

17. North Staffordshire Bridleways Association commented in support of the 
application stating that “as a former RUPP we believe that it must have a 
minimum of bridleway rights”. They also indicated that the route was shown in the 
same way on old maps as the adjacent lane – now a Byway Open to all Traffic – 
(BOAT 9). They also stated that PF8 had been used by local horse riders for as 
long as the Association had been in existence, approximately 10 years. It was 
also part of one of their circular routes “around The Potteries”. Immediate 
complaints had been received by the Association as soon as the stile had been 
erected. This can be seen at Appendix K.  

 

Comments on Evidence  

18. Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 sets out the test that must be satisfied 
under statute for a way to become a public highway through usage by the public.  

19. In 1932 the Rights of Way Act introduced the statutory presumption of dedication 
by the landowner of a public right of way which could be proven by evidence of 
20 years usage as of right and without interruption. This presumption could be 
rebutted by the landowner proving that he had no such intention. However, the 

Page 63



onus is on the landowner to do so. The land that the path crosses is not of a 
character that would prevent the dedication of a way.  

20. As the applicant has submitted both historical and user evidence in respect of the 
claim then the validity of both needs to be assessed.  

21. For clarity the claim is for the upgrade of an existing right of way to bridleway 
status.  

22. The claimed bridleway was originally classified as a RUPP until its reclassification 
as a Public Footpath in 1978. The details established at this time are important as 
they give significant insight into the historical use and past status of the path. The 
1978 evidence is detailed and relevant to the applicants claim for bridleway 
status.  

23. The salient points of the 1978 inspection and report are outlined below: 

 A total width of approximately 25 feet – with a useable width of 
approximately 8 feet. This is a greater width than would be typical for a 
way with the status of a “footpath”.  

 Evidence of “old metalling” at certain points. Again, suggestive of a route 
that once had higher rights as it is unlikely that a footpath would have 
been given such a surface. However, this point could also be applied to 
a bridleway.  

 A concrete culvert carrying a stream beneath the route. This would have 
had an associated cost at the point of installation and would not normally 
be necessary for a route that only had footpath status.  

 A mainly soil or grass surface which has been “destroyed by galloping 
horses”. This point adds to the evidence that horses were indeed using 
the route in sufficient numbers to cause surface damage. As such this 
point of the 1978 report is significant as it demonstrates its use by 
horses.  

 The County Council’s view at the time stated that the overall width of the 
route was suggestive of a “drovers track” and that “it served no essential 
transport need”.  

24.  The 1978 report presented 12 x findings of fact, most of which mirrored those in 
point 23 above. However, they also included the point that Cheadle Auto Club 
had used the route with motor vehicles (without challenge) for over 20 years 
between 1950-72 but that the route was subsequently closed to 4 wheeled motor 
vehicles. The key point here is that the auto club had used the route 
“infrequently” and so their use may not have conflicted with other users, notably 
on horseback.  

25. In addition, the British Horse Society claimed the way should have been 
reclassified as a byway (for use by pony and trap) or as a bridleway. However, 
the National Farmers’ Union (on behalf of local farmers), the Peak and Northern 
Footpath Society and Caverswall and Werrington Parish Council opposed these 
proposals favouring the status of a public footpath.  

26. Further evidence appeared in the Inspectors Conclusions relating to the historical 
status of the path. The applicant claims the route had been used as a bridleway 

Page 64



since the year 200AD and submitted a published account to that affect. However, 
the Inspectors report of 1978 showed that: 

 Both the Tuke and Yates Maps of 1798 show the route marked by 
double dotted lines which the Inspector interpreted as indicating an 
“unenclosed cart track”. On both maps the route ends at a brook where 
Caverswall Common begins.  

 The 1840 Ordnance Survey Map showed the route as a continuation of 
what later became the county road to Roughcote. As such it appears to 
have been a minor north-south vehicular route, although this has no 
bearing on its status as a public right of way, again it suggests that the 
route had higher rights than a footpath.  

 The Finance Act maps of 1910 show that the route was treated in the 
same way as public roads and indicates that the way had some “public 
vehicular status”.  

 Given that the route was designated as a RUPP on the First Definitive 
Map it seems probable that the route historically had “public vehicular 
rights” over it.  

 However, given the stream is prone to rise and flood the route and 
overgrowth either side has reduced the width to approximately 8 feet, 
together with a muddy surface area it is impractical for a wide variety of 
motor vehicles.  

27.  The summary of the 1978 report was that the route, that had been included as a 
RUPP on the First Definitive Map, should not be reclassified as a Byway Open to 
All Traffic (BOAT) and should remain with the new classification of Public 
Footpath as directed by the County Council.  

28. Of relevance to the application is the point made in the 1978 report that 
“Classification of the way as a bridleway was not raised prior to the hearing and 
accordingly cannot be considered”. Thus, the question as to whether the route 
would have been reclassified as a bridleway at this time remains open. If an 
application for bridleway status had been submitted by any party at this time then 
given the evidence contained in the 1978 report then there would have been 
strong evidence to support it.  

29. Staffordshire County Councils’ response to the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Bridleways Group points raised through solicitors DLA stated that the way was 
originally classified as a RUPP but was downgraded to a Footpath at the 1st 
Review. As there were objections to this downgrade a Public Inquiry was held on 
the 4th and 5th April 1978 for the former Cheadle Rural District Council. At that 
inquiry the Inspector upheld the reclassification of former RUPP No 8 Caverswall 
to a Footpath. This remains the status unless higher rights can be proven.  

30. Staffordshire County Council further stated that given that the legal status of the 
route was a Public Footpath then the landowner had the right to apply to the 
County Council for a stile to be erected on the way for the purpose of stock 
control under the Highways Act 1980 s147. The landowner had done this and 
had been granted permission to erect the stile. This demonstrated the fact that 
the stile was not an illegal obstruction as DLA solicitors had claimed. The removal 
of a stile in this instance would therefore constitute an offence of criminal 

Page 65



damage. This also applied to the erection of signage stating “No Horses” as the 
route had the legal status of a public footpath. Significantly to the application was 
the point that this was not in prejudice to any higher rights which may 
subsequently be proven to exist.  

31. In summary the County Council stated that the route was “currently classified as 
a footpath” and that “the stile has lawful authority and is therefore not an 
obstruction”. It added that an application had been received in 2001 to upgrade 
the route to a BOAT. This point demonstrates there has been a long-held belief 
that the route had higher rights than those limited by footpath status.   

32. The stile was later removed through the instruction of Staffordshire County 
Councils Rights of Way Officer, Ms Noreen Moore due to the provisions of the 
Disability Discrimination Act and the implementation of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way act 2000. This required the County Council to consider the needs 
of disabled people who wished to use public routes. 

33. The historical information which led to the original designation of PF8 as a RUPP 
was based on the evidence which in 1949 was weighted heavily in its favour. A 
RUPP was a category of right of way that included public carriage roads, cart 
roads and green unmetalled lanes which were mainly used as footpaths or 
bridleways. This suggests that at the time of the original classification following 
the 1949 Act the route was considered to be at least superior to a footpath and at 
least laid down the possibility that the route had been, or could be demonstrated 
to become, through evidence, a bridleway.  

34. When the RUPPs were reclassified (at the 1st Review) and the County Council 
allocated the route the status of “footpath” objections were received that resulted 
in the 1978 Inquiry. It appears that the only alternative classification that was 
considered in 1978 was that of a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT). As such 
consideration was only given as to whether the RUPP had any higher “vehicular 
rights”. The Inquiry concluded that it did not and as such should remain as a 
Public Footpath. However, as the bridleway groups and users on horseback did 
not present a case for its reclassification as a bridleway, the option was not 
satisfactorily considered.  To reiterate point (X) from the 1978 report 
“Classification of the way as a bridleway was not raised prior to the hearing and 
accordingly cannot be considered.”   

35. The reason for this oversight may have been created by the fact that when the 
RUPP’s were first classified there was some ambiguity in their exact designation. 
At the time the parish surveyors were able to classify routes by two different 
acronyms, CRB and CRF. The first referred to “highways which the public are 
entitled to use with vehicles but which, in practice are mainly used by them as 
footpaths or bridleways”. The second referred to “a public carriage or cart road or 
green unmetalled lane mainly used as a footpath or bridleway”. As the acronyms 
could not be included on the Definitive Map as such the routes were mostly 
categorized as RUPPs. In doing so the original vehicular rights of the path were 
unclear although both had been used by people on foot or by horse. The rights 
and status of a bridleway being obscured by the focus on the existence of 
vehicular rights.  

36. Of the 24 user evidence forms received 10 of them were using the route weekly 
on horseback throughout the relevant 20year period.  The remaining users stated 

Page 66



they used the way either regularly or seasonally. For the purpose of the claim 
however only horseback use is relevant.  

37. It is clear from the user evidence that there have been no interruptions to use 
over the relevant 20year period. The application was only made as a 
consequence of a challenge in 2001 to horse riders accessing the path -when a 
stile was erected to prevent motorbikes using the route. The relevant period 
between 1981-2001 is therefore the period critical to the claim.  

38. All of the user evidence plans show the route marked along the same line. The 
route had been used for pleasure and occasionally work purposes and formed 
part of a well-used circular route.  

39. The stile had been erected to prevent motorbikes accessing the route on both 
anti-social and safety grounds. This had been an acceptable solution from a 
rights of way perspective as the route had the status of a Public Footpath and no 
higher rights. The stile was installed without prejudice to any future application on 
the route.  

40. The horse riders who had used the route for the relevant 20year period had done 
so without either seeking or being granted permission and had done so without 
secrecy. The land in question being accessed as part of a local “circular ride” as 
well as for general riding purposes.  

41. The statutory test refers to use over 20 years and in the evidence submitted as 
there are at least 10 users who satisfy this criteria having used the route on 
horseback then legal weight is given to the application. One user claims to have 
used the route for “training horses” and another for “exercising horses”. This was 
done on a weekly basis by one and several times per week by another.  

42. Neither the legislation nor the applicable case law sets out a minimum level of 
user that is expected or required to support a claim that a route exists. The case 
law does suggest that the amount of usage should be such that it is enough to 
bring home to a reasonable landowner that the public are using a way and that 
use is as if it was a public highway, ie. “as of right”. 

43. The total user evidence that spans the relevant period of 20 years is almost half 
that of the amount of submitted users. This could be considered sufficient enough 
to bring that use home to a landowner. In addition, it is more likely than not that 
horses would be noticed using a route than persons using the route on foot. 

44. The user evidence forms and signed statement testifying to many years use of 
the route provide significant evidence that this has been done as of right, without 
permission and by its nature without secrecy. The fact that stiles were only 
installed when motorbikes became a problem suggests that no one prior to this 
had complained about horses accessing the path. In addition, the evidence 
records three individuals who had known the way for periods of 66 years, 50 
years and 50 years respectively – however their personal use was solely on foot 
and as such of little value as supporting evidence to the bridleway claim.  

45. A Caverswall Parish Council Meeting of 19th February 2001 was attended by over 
50 local residents who expressed their “astonishment, outrage and anger” over 
the erection of stiles on the route on the 31st January 2001. Concern was voiced 
about a lack of public consultation and the perceived change of use from a 
Bridleway to a Footpath. However, it was acknowledged that the route was PF8. 

Page 67



The route was highlighted as having been a “bridle path since 200AD” as stated 
in the book “The Spirit of the Place” by M J W Roberts. The relevant extract from 
this book was forwarded by the Parish Council including a copy of a photo with 
the subtitle “Green Lane – An Extension of the old Salt Way which may just 
possibly be of Roman origin”.  

Comments on all Available Material  

46. For the application to be successful, it will have to be shown that the public have 
used the alleged route, as of right and without interruption, for a period of at least 
20 years prior to the status of the route being brought into question, or that it can 
be inferred by the landowners conduct that he had actually dedicated the route as 
a public right of way, and the right of way had been accepted by the public.  

47. In order for the right of the public to have been brought into question, the right 
must be challenged by some means sufficient to bring it home to the public that 
their right to use the way is being challenged.  

48. There was an identifiable challenge to the public’s use of the claimed route in 
2001 as outlined in this report. Accordingly, the requisite 20-year period of use 
should be calculated retrospectively from this date.   

49. There is some evidence to support higher rights than those applied for given the 
original classification of the route as a RUPP. However, the Public Inquiry of 1978 
rejected its reclassification as a Byway Open to All Traffic and no one has raised 
the matter since. 

50. The material when taken together appears to be consistent – and the landowners 
evidence supports the user evidence in the route’s usage as a bridleway.  

Burden and Standard of Proof  

51. With regard to the status of the route, the burden is on the applicant to show, that 
on the balance of probabilities, that it is more likely than not, the way subsists. 
The existing situation must remain unless and until the Panel is of the view that 
the Definitive Map and Statement should be amended. If the evidence is evenly 
balanced, then the existing Definitive Map and Statement prevails.  

52. If a conclusion is reached that the test is satisfied, then the Definitive Map and 
Statement should be modified. 

Summary  

53. The application is made under Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act, relying on the 
occurrence of the event specified in 53(3)(c) (ii) of the Act.  

54. The relevant statutory provision, in relation to the dedication of a public right of 
way, is found in Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 (“the 1980 Act’) which sets 
out the requirements for both the statutory test and common law dedication.  

55. The test requires consideration of whether there has been use of a way by the 
public, as of right without interruption, for a period of twenty years prior to its 
status being brought into question and, if so whether there is evidence that any 
landowner demonstrated a lack of intention during this period to dedicate a public 
right of way.  

56. Before a presumption of dedication can be raised under statute, Section 31 of the 
1980 Act requires that a way must be shown to have been actually used by the 

Page 68



public, as of right and without interruption, and for this use to have continued for a 
period of twenty years. In this case, the view taken was the status of the route 
was brought into question in 2001.  

57. Therefore, it needs to be demonstrated that there was public use between 1981 
to 2001 to satisfy the first part of the statutory test. In total 13 out of the 23 users 
have over 20 years recorded usage on horseback that covers the relevant 20-
year period. This is over half of all users and therefore significant enough to have 
alerted the landowner to its use.  

58. If the test in the first part of Section 31 is considered as to whether the way 
subsists and the balance of probabilities, the courts have indicated that this can 
be satisfied by considering whether it is more probable, or more likely than not. 
As Lord Denning in the case of Miller said, “If the evidence is such that the 
tribunal can say ‘we think it more probable than not’ the burden is discharged, but 
if the probabilities are equal it is not”.  

59. In this instance your officers consider that the use is sufficient to satisfy the 
statutory test set out in s31 when considered on the balance of probabilities.  

60. In this instance there is also evidence for a common law dedication, in that 
available evidence shows that the owner of the land over which the way passes 
has dedicated it to the public.  

61. An implication of dedication may be shown at common law level if there is 
evidence from which it may be inferred that a landowner has dedicated a right of 
way and that the public has accepted the dedication. Evidence of the use of a 
way by the public, as of right, may support an inference of dedication, and may 
also be evidence of the acceptance of a dedication by the public.  

62. No evidence has been submitted to show that the usage has been challenged by 
the landowner or that there has been an intention not to dedicate during the 20 
year relevant period. In light of this it can be reasonably considered that there has 
been a common law dedication of the route as a public footpath. 

63. For clarification all points appear to be satisfied in this case, there is a “way over 
land”, the character of the land does not prohibit use by statute, it has been 
enjoyed by the public, and in sufficient numbers over a sufficient period of time. It 
has been used without force, secrecy and permission.  

 

Conclusion  

64. In light of the evidence as set out above it is your Officers opinion that the 
evidence does show that a public right of way subsists with the status of a 
bridleway.  

65. It is the opinion of your Officers that the County council should make a 
Modification Order to add the public bridleway which is the subject of this 
application to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the 
district of Staffordshire Moorlands, Caverswall with a minimum width of 3 metres.  

Recommended Option  

66. To accept the application based upon the reasons contained in the report and 
outlined above.  

Page 69



 

Other Options Available  

67. To decide to reject the application and not to make an Order to add the route to 
the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way.  

 

Legal Implications  

68. The legal implications are contained within the report.  

 

Resource and Financial Implications  

69. The cost of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

70. There are however additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High 
Court for Judicial Review.  

Risk Implications  

71. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that Order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for Environment under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act. The Secretary of State 
would appoint an Inspector to consider the matter afresh, including any 
representations or previously unconsidered evidence.  

72. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision and confirm the Order 
however there is always a risk that an Inspector may decide that the County 
Council should not have made the Order and decide not to confirm it. If the 
Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order it may 
still be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court.  

73. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 
decision under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act to the Secretary of State who will 
follow a similar process to that outlined above. After consideration by an 
Inspector the County Council could be directed to make an Order.  

74. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and 
applies the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being 
successful, or being made, are lessened. There are no additional risk 
implications.  

 

Equal Opportunity Implications  

75. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report.  

 

J Tradewell 

Director of Corporate Services 

Report Author: David Adkins  

Ext: 27618 Background File: LL602G 

Page 70



 

 

Index to Appendices  

 

 

Appendix A Application  

Appendix B  Plan  

Appendix C  User Evidence Forms and Extract – Spirit 
of the Place  

Appendix D Salient Points of User Evidence Forms  

Appendix E Owner Evidence Form  

Appendix F  M Rowley Letter 

Appendix G 1978 Inquiry 

Appendix H 1980 Report 

Appendix I Staffordshire Moorlands Bridleways 
Preservation Group - Letter 

Appendix J DLA Solicitors Letter 

Appendix K  North Staffordshire Bridleways 
Association Letter 

 

Page 71





Page 73



Page 74



Page 75





Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



 

APPENDIX D (i) Use on 
Horseback 

       

Name  Years 
known 
the way  

Years 
Used  

Frequency By Use Gates/ Stiles Width 

        

Mrs K Walchester  30  1970-
2001  

Weekly Foot 

Horseback  

Pleasure No 10 Feet 

(approx.) 

Width varies at points  

 

 

Fred Austin  

 

  

 

1924-
2001 

 

 

Regularly  

 

 

Foot 

Horse & 
wagon  

 

 

Work  

Pleasure 

 

 

Only recently 
stiles and 
rails 

 

 

Varies from 25 feet 

Caroline Roberts  20  1984-
2001 

Weekly 

 

Horseback  

 

Pleasure Rail barrier 
erected in 
2001 

Vehicle width – fence to 
fence / sometimes 
overgrown  

Rebecca Slinn  19  1981-
2000 

3 x times 
per week 

Horseback Training 
horses 

No Varies 2-6 metres  

Jennifer Slinn 44  1957-
2001 

Weekly  

Horseback 

Exercising 
horses 

No ----------- 

J T Purvis  (for life)  (Born 
1936) 

Weekly Foot  

Horseback 

Work 

Pleasure 

Fence & 
Stiles recently 
erection 

10-12 Feet 

Helen R Slinn 18  1982-
2001 

2-3 times 
per week  

Horseback  Exercising 
horses 

---------- -2m – 6m  

P
age 239



John William Clamp  (all my 
life) 

(all my 
life) 

Weekly 

Seasonal 

Horseback 

Horse 
drawn 
vehicle 

Work  

Pleasure 

-opening 
gates  

Approx. 15 Feet  

Christine Mould  40 1960-
2001 

----------- Foot 

Horseback 

Pleasure  No Approx 15 Feet 

Carol Cartlidge  20+ 1980-
2001 

3-4 times 
per week 

Foot 

Horseback 

Pleasure No 10 Feet approx.  

Deborah Wilshaw  22  1978-
2001 

At least 
once per 
month – 
sometimes 
more  

Horseback Pleasure No 6-11 Feet  

Jillian Weston  25 --------- Daily Horseback  Pleasure No 11 Feet  

But overgrown reduced 
to 6’ 

Vivien Matthews  27  1974-
2001 

Several 
times week  

Horseback  Pleasure No 15 Feet approx.  

Shirley Carrick  30 1970-
2001 

100 days 
per year 

Horseback  Pleasure No -------------- 

John Carrick  40 1960-
2001 

70 days 
per year 

Horseback 

Foot 

Pleasure No 10 Feet 

Derek Matthews  27 1974-
2001 

Several 
times 
weekly 

Horseback  Pleasure No 15 Feet approx.  

        

P
age 240



 

APPENDIX D (ii) – Use on 
Foot Or Use Not Specified 

        

Norman Austin   1925-
2001 

Regularly  Foot  Pleasure  Rails and 
stiles erected 
last year (at 
each end of 
Green Lane) 

15-20 feet 

Valerie Hart  30 --------- ------------- ----------- ------------ No  Varying widths  

Doris Edith Clarkson All life, 
parents 
and 
grand -
parents 
life. 

-------- -------------- ------------ ------------ No Wide enough for a 
tractor and trailer if 
hedges cut back 

Brian John Heath  50 1951-
2001 

Seasonal  Foot Pleasure  Stiles erected 
2001  

-------------------------- 

Elizabeth Ann Smith  50  1951-
2001 

Weekly Foot Pleasure  Unsure  -------------------------- 

Miss Purvis  

 

66  always Seasonal Foot Pleasure  Only recently 
erected Wed 
31 Jan 2001 

10-12 Feet 

Joyce Edwards  30 1970-
2001  

1970-1995 
(weekly) 

1995-2001 
(daily) 

Foot  Pleasure  No  Various 4’, 8’,10’  

Roger Gibson  35 1971-
2001 

----------- ------------ ------------ No ------------------------- 

P
age 241



 

P
age 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267





Page 269



Page 270



Page 271





Page 273



Page 274



Addendum 

 

The below new evidence submitted by Mr David Rice on 20/12/19 is highlighted as it 

relates to the Finance Act which shows the route as separate from the taxable 

holdings. It is suggested that the way the route is depicted on the plan, together with 

the other evidence is indicative of “public carriageway rights” and supportive of a 

BOAT (Byway Open to All Traffic) status.  

 

Email From David Rice 20/12/19 – (Sent to P Dalton, Staffordshire County Council) 

“Attached are copies of the relevant 1910 Finance Act Plans which are strong 

evidence, taken in context of the other evidence found, that the application route 

enjoys public carriageway rights. This being based on the case law for routes 

excluded from adjoining hereditaments or “coloured out” on 1910 Finance Act Plans. 

This having been decided by the courts in Robinson Webster (Holdings) Ltd v 

Agombar and others (2001) and Fortune & Others v Wiltshire County Council (2012). 

Please add this communication and attachments to the evidence in support of BOAT 

application LL602G.This is “new evidence” for the user rights that was not 

considered by Staffordshire County Council when it undertook its “Special Review” - 

and reclassified or “downgraded” the route from a” Road Used as a Public Path” to a 

Public Footpath.” 

 

 

 

Page 275





Page 277





P
age 279




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on 19 March 2021
	4 Wildlife and Countryside act 1981 Section 53 - Application for the addition of an alleged Public Footpath at Eccleshall Road to the Footbridge over the River Sow, Creswell
	4233090 - htitc2sc_27-11-2020_08-25-36
	4250728 - 4233099 - htitc2sc_27-11-2020_08-25-36_1
	4503841 - Appendix K

	5 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for upgrading of Public Footpath No 8 Caverswall to Bridleway status
	4503208 - Appendix A - LL602G
	4503199 - Appendix B - LL602G
	4503161 - Appendix C (i) LL602G
	4503162 - Appendix C (ii)  LL602G
	4503163 - Appendix C (iii)  LL602G
	4503164 - Appendix C (iv)  LL602G
	4503195 - Appendix C(v) Extract Spirit of the Place LL602G
	3850220 - Appendix D - LL602G
	4503633 - Appendix E - LL602G
	4503631 - Appendix F - LL602G
	4503609 - Appendix G LL602G
	4503606 - Appendix H - LL602G
	4503628 - Appendix I - LL602G
	4503613 - Appendix J LL602G
	4503625 - Appendix K - LL602G
	Addendum LL602G
	Addendum A  - Caverswall 1910 Finance Act Plan
	Addendum B  -Caverswall 1910 Finance Act Plan 2 JPG


